OA 10.6.89

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

\* \* SHRINERS HOSPITALS FOR CRIPPLED CHILDREN, \*\* Petitioner, Case No. 73,639 VS. LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC, Respondent. District Court of Appeal Fifth District No. 88-49 ESTATE OF LORRAINE E. ROMANS, Petitioner, Case No. 73,640 VS. LORRAINE E, ZRILLIC, Respondent. \*\*

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

# PETITIONER, SHRINERS HOSPITALS FOR CRIPPLED CHILDREN'S, INITIAL BRIEF

WILLIAM S. BELCHER, ESQUIRE OF BELCHER & FLEECE, P.A. 600 FIRST AVENUE NORTH POST OFFICE BOX 330 ST. PETERSBURG, FL 33731 (813) 822-3941 FL BAR #4871

and

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The decedent, LORRAINE E. ROMANS, died on July 19, 1986, a resident of Seminole County, Florida. The decedent's sole intestate heir was her daughter, LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC, (hereinafter referred to as Zrillic).

The decedent's Last Will and Testament dated May 5, 1986, which was admitted to probate December 19, 1986, contained the following paragraph:

EIGHTH: I give and bequeath several sealed boxes of family antique dishes and figurines specifically designated, to my daughter, LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC, 16531 Blatt Blvd., No. 204, Ft. Lauderdale, Florida. I have intentionally limited her inheritance since I have contributed substantially during my life for her education and subsequent monies I have been required to expend primarily due to her promiscuous type of life. My daughter, LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC, has not shown or indicated the slightest affection or gratitude to me for at least five years preceding the date of this Will. My executor will know the appraised value of these antiques for estate tax purposes.

The rest, residue and remainder of her estate was then devised to the SHRINERS HOSPITALS FOR CRIPPLED CHILDREN, (hereinafter

referred to as Shriners). No takers in default of the residuary devise were named in the decedent's will. Shriners is a benevolent or charitable institution.

Zrillic, under Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), filed her written notice to avoid the residuary devise and petitioned the trial court for an Order Avoiding Charitable Devise. Shriners and the Co-Personal Representatives of the estate filed timely responses to the Petition and each raised the same two (2) affirmative defenses to the Petition: Lack of standing on the part of Zrillic and the constitutionality of Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985).

On December 14, , Seminole County Circuit Judge C.

Vernon Mise, Jr., entered his Order Denying the Petition for

Order Avoiding Charitable Devise. The trial court found Zrillic

had standing to avoid the charitable devise but declared Section

732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), unconstitutional on the grounds

that it denied Shriners equal protection of the laws under

Section 1 of the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution

and under Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

From this final order Zrillic filed an appeal and the Co-Personal Representatives filed a cross appeal from the denial of their defense based on standing. After hearing oral arguments, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in their Opinion filed October 20, 1988, found that Zrillic had standing but held that the trial court erred in holding Section 732.803 Florida

Statutes (1985), unconstitutional under the federal and state equal protection clauses, reversed the order and remanded.

On November 3, 1988, Shriners filed a Motion for Rehearing. The Fifth District Court of Appeal in their Order dated January 4, 1989 denied Shriners Motion.

On January 27 1989, Shriners filed its Notice to invoke the Discretionary jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court and on June 21, 1989 the Florida Supreme Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), commonly referred to as Florida's mortmain statute, is unconstitutional because it violates the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 9 of the Declaration of Rights in the Florida Constitution. Although the predecessor to this statute survived scrutiny by this court on the issue of due process in Taylor v. Payne, 17 So.2d. 615 (Fla. 1944), the Taylor case never addressed the issue of equal protection. In Taylor, the Florida Supreme Court was only concerned with the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment when it decided whether the right to receive and dispose of property by Will was a fundamental right. The equal protection issue, that is, whether the statute bears a rational relationship to a legitimate government purpose, was not decided in the Taylor case.

The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

Constitution provides that no State shall "... deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws." U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. The courts have consistently interpreted this clause to mean that no state may enact legislation that does not have a reasonable relationship to

the object and purpose intended by such legislation. The legislative purpose of Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), is to protect the surviving spouse and children of the decedent from improvident bequests to charities contained in Wills of decedents made within six months of testator's death.

The underlying reason why charities have been singled out in mortmain statutes can be traced back to the middle ages when the church and the salvation it purportedly dispensed had an overwhelming grip on the populace. It was conceived that the mortmain statute would protect the widow and surviving children from overreaching by the church's threat to withhold absolution until the dying testator made a testamentary devise to the church. This same rationale has been carried forward into modern times to justify the mortmain statutes.

In the instant case, the Trial Court ruled that Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), was unconstitutional because it did not afford the Shriners Hospitals for Crippled Children equal protection under the law. Specifically, the Trial Court found:

... that Section 732.803 bears no rational relationship to the legitimate government purpose enunciated in Taylor v. Payne, supra. ... Furthermore, it creates an irrebuttable presumption that charitable devises made within the statutory period are the product of undue influence, yet leaves untouched devises to noncharitable beneficiaries who are in an equal or better position to influence the testator. For the latter devises, undue influence or lack of testamentary capacity must be proven. There is no rational explanation for this difference in treatment. Estate of French, 365 A.2d 621 (D.C. 1976), cert. denied and appeal dismissed on other grounds 434 U.S. 59, 98 S.Ct. 280, 54 L.Ed.2d 238, reh'g denied 434 U.S. 1025, 98 S.Ct. 753, 54 L.Ed.2d 773.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the Trial Court by holding Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), constitutional in that it did not violate the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

When constitutionally scrutinized, mortmain statutes no longer bear a rational relationship to their underlying purpose. Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), only protects against overreaching by "a benevolent, charitable, educational, literary, scientific, religious or missionary institution, corporation, association or purpose." 0732.803, Fla. Stat. (1985). What Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), fails to protect against are unscrupulous lawyers, doctors, nurses, housekeepers, companions or a myriad of other people more inclined to unduly influence a testator than those entities specified in the statute.

When the equal protection test is applied to Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), it becomes clear that this statute violates the Fourteenth Amendment and the Trial Court's decision declaring Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), to be unconstitutional should be upheld and the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision should be reversed.

#### ARGUMENT

SECTION 732.803 OF THE FLORIDA PROBATE CODE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT DEPRIVES CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS OF EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW AS GUARANTEED BY THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND SECTION 9 OF THE DECLARATION OF RIGHTS IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), is unconstitutional because it violates the equal protection clause as contained in the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), provides as follows:

- (1) If a testator dies leaving lineal descendants or a spouse and his will devises part or all of the testator's estate:
- (a) To a benevolent, charitable, educational, literary, scientific, religious, or missionary institution, corporation, association, or purpose,
- (b) To this state, any other state or country, or a county, city or town in this or any other state or country, or
- (c) To a person in trust for any such purpose or beneficiary, whether or not the trust appears on the face of the instrument making the devise,

the devise shall be avoided in its entirety if one or more of the lineal descendants or a spouse who would receive any interest in the devise, if avoided, files written notice to this effect in the administration proceeding within 4 months after the date letters are issued, unless:

- (d) The will was duly executed at least 6 months before the testator's death, or
- (e) The testator made a valid charitable devise in substantially the same amount for the same purpose or

to the same beneficiary, or to a person in trust for the same purpose or beneficiary, as was made in the last will or by a will or a series of wills duly executed immediately next to the last will, one of which was executed more than 6 months before the testator's death.

(2) The testator's making of a codicil that does not substantially change a charitable devise as herein defined within the 6-month period before the testator's death shall not render the charitable gift voidable under this section.

8732.803, Fla. Stat. (1985).

Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in part that:

... No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

U.S. Const. amend. XIV, §1.

The leading case in Florida on the constitutionality of Florida's mortmain statute [presently Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985)] is <u>Taylor v. Payne</u>, 154 Fla. 359, 17 So.2d 615 (1944). The Florida Supreme Court in <u>Taylor</u>, addressed only the due process issue in holding that the right to dispose of property by will is not an inherent right nor one that is guaranteed by the fundamental law. The Florida Supreme Court reasoned that since the right to dispose of property by will was totally statutory this right could be taken away altogether, if the legislature deemed it necessary, without constitutional

violation. The question of equal protection, that is whether the two classes created by the statute bear a rational relationship to the purpose of the underlying statute was never discussed in Taylor. The Court in Taylor found that the purpose of the statute was clear:

improvident gifts made to their neglect by the testator; the design of the statute being obviously to prevent testators who may be laboring under the apprehension of impending death from disposing their estates to the exclusion of those who are, or should be, the natural objects of the testator's bounty.

Taylor, 17 So.2d at 618.

The Court in <u>Taylor</u> never went beyond the basic premise that the right to inherit is totally a creature of statute not subject to constitutional limitation of due process. The Court did not consider nor rule on the proposition that all laws are subject to the constitutional scrutiny of equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 9 of the Florida Declaration of Rights.

In <u>Lalli v. Lalli</u>, 439 U.S. 259, 58 L.Ed 503, 99 S.Ct. 518 (1978), the United States Supreme Court was faced with the constitutionality of a New York Statute which involved some proof requirement on illegitimate children who would inherit from their fathers. The Court found:

The primary state goal underlying the challenged aspect of **sec.** 4-1.2 is to provide for the just and orderly disposition of property at death. We long have recognized that this is an area with which the States have an interest of considerable magnitude.

Lalli, 439 U.S. at 268, 99 S.Ct. at 524, 58 L.Ed.2d at 511.

Justice Powell writing for the majority, in recognizing that probate statutes are subject to constitutional scrutiny wrote:

... Our inquiry under the Equal Protection Clause does not focus on the abstract 'fairness' of a state law, but on whether the statute's relation to the state interests it is intended to promote is so tenurous that it lacks the rationality contemplated by the Fourteenth Amendment.

Lalli, 439 U.S. at 273, 99 S.Ct. at 527, 58 L.Ed.2d at 514.

Clearly, statutes which may not be subject to procedural due process scrutiny are nevertheless subject to and must comply with the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

As was pointed out in State ex rel Furman v. Searcy,
225 So.2d 431 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969), both the 14th Amendment and
Section 12 of the Declaration of Rights (now Section 9) contained
in the Florida Constitution

...guarantee the concept of substantive due process to citizens of the State of Florida as a safeguard against state actions. The phrase 'due process of law' when applied to substantive rights as distinguished from procedural rights means that a state or municipality is

without right to deprive a person of life, liberty or property by an act having no reasonable relationship to any proper governmental purpose.

Furman, 225 So.2d at 433.

The Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment does not prohibit the States from legislating in a way which treats different classes in different ways as long as the different treatment is not wholly unrelated to the objective of that The Taylor case never decided whether the statute. classification had a rational relationship to the purpose of that The Florida Supreme Court did not consider whether the statute. classification was reasonable or arbitrary and whether it rested upon some ground of difference having a fair and substantial relation to the object of the legislation, so that all persons similarly circumstanced would be treated alike. See, Royster Guano Co. v. Virginia, 253 U.S. 412, 40 S.Ct. 560, 64 L.Ed 989 (1920). The Florida Supreme Court held in Davis v. Florida Power <u>Company</u>, 64 Fla 246, 60 So. 759 (1913).

The inhibition that no state shall deprive any person within its jurisdiction of the equal protection of the laws was designed to prevent any person, or class of persons, from being singled out as a special subject for arbitrary and unjust discrimination and hostile legislation.

<u>Davis</u>, 60 So. at 766.

Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), has created two classifications of beneficiaries, the first being comprised

of benevolent, charitable, educational, literary, scientific, religious or missionary institutions named in a will made within six months of the testator's death and the other class being all other beneficiaries. This leads to the constitutional question of whether this distinction between beneficiaries is reasonable and whether the differences between the two has some fair and substantial relation to the object and purpose of the legislation.

In the first class, Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985), renders invalid any otherwise valid charitable gifts included in a will made by the testator within six (6) months of his death if within 4 months of the issuance of a letter of administration, a written avoidance is filed by a lineal descendant or a spouse who would receive an interest in the devise, if avoided. In substance, this amounts to an irrebuttable presumption that the devise was the product of undue influence. In the second class, the devise can only be avoided by establishing and proving that such devise was the product of undue influence.

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court, in analyzing its mortmain statute which was similar to that of Florida's, except that it had a 30 day period as opposed to a 6 month period, stated in Estate of Cavill, 329 A.2d 503 (Pa 1974):

...the statutory classification bears only the most tenuous relation to the legislative purpose. The statute strikes down the charitable gifts of one in the best of health at the time of the execution of his will and regardless of age if he chances to die in an accident 29 days later. On the other hand, it leaves untouched the charitable bequests of another, aged and suffering from a terminal disease, who survives the execution of his will by 31 days. Such a combination of results can only be characterized as arbitrary.

Because the statute sweeps within its prohibition many testamentary gifts which present no threat of the evil which the statute purports to minimize, it is substantially over inclusive. Since the statute also leaves unaffected many gifts which do present such a threat, it is substantially under-inclusive. We are thus compelled to conclude that it lacks a fair and substantial relation to the legislative object. Therefore, the Equal Protection Clause forbids us to give it any effect.

Cavill, 329 A.2d at 506.

It is clear that the Pennsylvania Court had no trouble deciding that there was no rational basis for the distinction between wills executed within 30 days of death which named a charity as a beneficiary and a similar will executed more than 30 days before the testator's death. The distinction is even more compelling in Florida which requires the testator to survive at least 6 months after making his will in order for a devise to a charity to be safe from an attack under Section 732.803 Florida Statutes (1985).

The Supreme Court of Ohio also had occasion to determine the unconstitutionality of its mortmain statute in Shriners Hospitals for Crippled Children v. Hester, 23 Ohio St.3d 198, 492 N.E.2d 153 (1986).

The Ohio Supreme Court first focused on the legislative intent of the Ohio mortmain statute. In a footnote, the court recognized that originally mortmain statutes:

... came into being as a means of preventing the acquisition of vast amounts of real property by religious orders which would be inclined to hold such property in perpetuity, under a 'dead hand', thereby preventing the economic and efficient use of the land.

Hester, 23 Ohio St.3d at 201 n.2, 492 N.E.2d at 155 n.2.

The Court then went on to discuss the purpose of modern mortmain statutes and recognized that:

Modern mortmain statutes are directed toward the testator who executes his will under the belief that his death is near. Generally, the purpose of these statutes has been to prevent such a testator from disposing of his estate, as a result of unsound judgment or undue influence, in a manner that is prejudicial to his next of kin. Because it was felt that certain individuals and organizations were in a position to benefit from the execution of a will by a 'death-bed' testator, bequests to these individuals and organizations have been singled out in mortmain statutes as being invalid, either in whole or in part.

Hester, 23 Ohio St.3d at 201, 492 N.E.2d at 155.

Next, the Ohio Supreme Court recognized that:

the protection of a testator's issue from disinheritance, as a result of the testator's unsound judgment or the undue influence of third parties upon the testator, is a legitimate state objective. Our analysis narrows, therefore, to the question of whether R.C. 2107.06 is rationally related to the accomplishment of that objective.

Hester, 23 Ohio St.3d at 201, 492 N.E.2d at 156.

In reaching its conclusion that the Ohio mortmain statute was unconstitutional, the Court noted that the statute deprived a small class of beneficiaries of their testamentary bequests even though in the great majority of cases such bequests

were legitimate and not within the scope of the statute's objective. Next, the Court considered the fact that the statute created an irrebuttable presumption that a testator who made a charitable bequest in a will that was executed within six months prior to death either lacked testamentary capacity or was under undue influence. The Court noted:

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