IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA	
---------------------------------	----	-----	---------	-------	----	---------	--

01A 10-6-20-1

SHRINERS HOSPITALS FOR	* *	
CRIPPLED CHILDREN,	* *	
Petitioner,	* *	Cas
vs.	* *	
LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC,	* *	
Respondent.	* *	Dis
ESTATE OF LORRAINE E.	* *	Fif
ROMANS,	* *	
Petitioner,	* *	
VS.	* *	Cas
LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC,	* *	
Respondent.	* *	

73;6/39 e No, trict Court of Appea th District No. 88-49 se No. 73,640

ON DISCRETIONARY **REVIEW** FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

AMENDED RESPONDENT, LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC'S, ANSWER BRIEF

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

But, the Justices determined that the particular Ohio Statute, R.C. 2107.06, was not rationally related to the accomplishment of that legitimate state objective because the statute creates an irrebuttable presumption that a testator acted with unsound judgment or under undue influence if within six (6) months prior to death, the testator makes a charitable bequest.

Our Florida Statute does not create an irrebuttable presumption because it contains a "savings clause'' for a next prior will executed outside the limitation period. 732.803(1)(e), F.S.

Additionally, the Ohio statute required that charitable bequests in excess of 25 percent (25%) **of** the net probate estate be distributed per stirpes among testator's issue. 492 N.E. 2d

at **156.** The Justices felt this could be used to defeat legitimate gifts to worthy organizations in favor of persons who were neither dependent upon nor closely involved in the life of the testatrix.

Clearly, the Florida statute limits its protected class to spouse and lineal descendants in order to protect the widow and children from improvident gifts made to their neglect by the testator. <u>Taylor v. Payne</u>, <u>supra</u>. Our statute envisions a legitimate state objective and one which is rationally related to the accomplishment of that objective. There is no equal protection violation.

Mississippi has a statute of mortmain, Section 91-5-31, Miss. Code (1972). Said statute limits its protected class to a spouse, child or descendant of a child. The statute limits the gift to more than one-third of the testator's estate, and limits the beneficiary to charitable, religious, educational, or civil institution.

The statute voids said gifts unless the will is executed more than 90 days prior to death. The statute excludes gifts of land, and permits said institution to hold gifts **of** land up to 10 years and grants a power to dispose of said land within the 10year period.

Idaho has Section 15-2-615, Idaho Code (1979) entitled "Restriction on Charitable Devises." There is no limit to the protected class, apparently permitting any heir to invalidate a devise to any charitable or benevolent society or corporation unless the will is executed at least 120 days prior to death. The

entire statute is rendered inapplicable if death is caused by accident.

Georgia has Section 53-2-10, Off. Code of Ga. (1982), entitled "Limitation on Power to Devise to Charity to Exclusion of Spouse, Child or Descendants." This statute clearly limits the protected class to spouse, child or descendants of a child, and limits the gift to more than one-third of the estate to any charitable, religious, educational, or civil institution, unless the will is executed at least 90 days prior to death. Any devise in violation of the statute is void. The statute applies only to the first \$200,000 of the estate; and not to any gifts in excess of \$200,000.

Comparing the Florida statute to Mississippi, Idaho, and Georgia, Florida limits the protected class to widow and children as do Mississippi and Georgia. But Florida's statute requires timely election by a member of the protected class and contains a "savings clause" for a next prior will containing substantially the same devise executed outside the 180 days. These two aspects offer additional protection to an intended beneficiary. Additionally, Florida's Statute 732.803 is <u>voidable</u>. (emphasis added).

The trial court found that Section 732.803 crated four (4) distinct classes. (Pet. App. B). The trial court determined that equal protection is denied SHRINER's because the six-month time period arbitrarily divides testator into two (2) classes and charities into two (2) classes. This is clearly erroneous since 732.803 divides only testators into two groups by time

limitation. According to <u>Taylor v. Payne</u>, <u>supra</u>, the right to receive or dispose of property by will is at all times subject to legislative regulation and control as such a right does not emanate from organic law. 17 So.2d at 617.

The trial court found that Section 732.803 bears no rational relationship to the legitimate government purpose enunciated in Taylor v. Payne, supra. (Pet. App. B at para. 11). Yet Taylor v. Payne, supra, itself found the statute valid and constitutional. The trial court relied upon Lalli v. Lalli, 439 U.S. 259, 58 L.Ed. 2, 503, 99 S.Ct. 518 (1978) to support its supposition that ''laws governing the passage of property after death must be at least rationally related to a legitimate government purpose." (Pet. App. B., para. 10). The United States Supreme Court, in Lalli, supra, agreed that a New York statute did not violate the equal protection clause by discriminating on the basis of illegitimate birth. The statute under scrutiny allowed an illegitimate child to inherit from his intestate father only if a court of competent jurisdiction, during his father's lifetime, had entered an order of filiation declaring paternity. (emphasis added).

What is of interest in citing this case is that four (4) Justices dissented, partially supporting their dissent by explaining that to protect estates from belated claims by unknown illegitimates (the legitimate state interest), the state could provide for publication notice and a short limitations period for filing claims. 58 L.Ed.2d at 504.

Of course, the case is not factually on point with the case

at bar but is useful to show that even the dissenters felt the statute's unconstitutionality could be cured partially by publication and a short limitations period for filing claims.

There are even more protections in 732.803, F.S., for both the testator and charities than in the constitutionally-upheld New York statute construed above.

Florida cases interpreting F.S. 732.803, or its predecessor statute, F.S. 731.19, include <u>Ruppert v. Hastings</u>, 311 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), which involved a daughter, who had no contact with the deceased for 30 years, except for one insulting telephone call, successfully set aside a devise to the American Legion. The deceased died within one month of the execution o the will and disinherited his daughter and any grandchildren. The court voided the charitable devise and said:

> We are bound by the plain language of Florida Statute 731.19, as passed by the Florida Legislature. 311 So.2d at 811.

In 1984, the Fourth District Court of Appeals reviewed Section 732.803, F.S. in <u>Arthritis Foundation v. Beisse</u>, 456 So.2d 954 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). The Court found the statute to be constitutional:

> Appellants challenge the constitutionality of Section 732.803, Florida Statutes (1983). We hold that Section 732.803 is constitutional under the authority of Taylor v. Payne. (citations omitted). 456 So.2d at 954.

Additionally, the Legislature, in its wisdom, has not repealed this statute but instead substantially amended it in 1957 and re-enacted it with a new format and substantial enlargement as part of the Florida Probate Code in 1975. In re-

enacting the statutory provision, the Legislature not only restated the section to conform to the format of the new Probate Code, but also shortened the period for notice of avoidance from eight (8) months to four (4) months and removed the previous exemption for institutions of higher learning.

The statute has not been changed since 1975. No authority is cited to demonstrate that the court has grounds to invade the legislative thicket to change the law. <u>Arthritis Foundation v.</u> <u>Beisse</u>, 456 So.2d 954 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (Brief for Appellee at 7, 8, Case No. 84-286).

Respondent respectfully submits that the Fifth District, which correctly reversed the trial court, refused to invade the legislative thicket and to change the law. Our judicial system is required to follow the laws of Florida and to uphold them. This is a legislative matter, and if the law is to be changed, it can be done by the Florid Legislature. The trial court had no authority to reverse <u>Taylor v. Payne</u>, <u>supra</u>, and to substitute its opinion for this Court's.

Secondly, Section **732.803**, Florida Statutes, has, as its state objective, the protection of family members -- a spouse or lineal descendants, from improvident gifts made to their neglect by testators. The statute as written is rationally related to this legitimate government purpose and not in violation of the equal protection clause.

Third, Section **732.803**, F.S., was not repealed by the enactment of the Florida Probate Code in **1975**.

/

And, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has recently upheld

the statute as constitutional. <u>Arthritis Foundation v. Beisse</u>, <u>supra.</u>

The Fifth District must be affirmed.

 $\overline{\ }$

ARGUMENT

11. WHERE THE DECEDENT SPECIFICALLY LIMITS THE INHERITANCE OF A DAUGHTER AND A LINEAL DESCENDANT UNDER SPECIFIC PROVISIONS OF HER LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT WHICH, IN EFFECT, DISINHERIT SUCH DAUGHTER AND LINEAL DESCENDANT, DOES SHE THEREAFTER HAVE STANDING AS ONE OF A CLASS OF PERSONS ENTITLED TO THE BENEFITS OF SECTION 732.803, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO BRING A PETITION FOR ORDER AVOIDING CHARITABLE DEVISE UNDER THE SPECIFIC PROVISIONS OF THAT SECTION?

Pursuant to the Order Denying Petition for Order avoiding Charitable Devise (Pet. App. B), the trial court aade the following correct finding:

> 5. That the Petitioner, LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC, does have standing to maintain a Petition for Order Avoiding Charitable Devise. As the sole lineal heir of the Testatrix, she is the only person eligible to take should this residual charitable devise fail. The intent of the Testatrix to severely limit Petitioner's interest in the estate does not deprive Petitioner of standing, since the effect of Section 732.803, Florida Statutes, is to render intent irrelevant. (App. 2).

This is a correct finding and is supported by FLorida case law construing Section 732.803, Florida Statutes.

In <u>Ruppert v. Hastings</u>, <u>supra</u>, the testator executed a will on February 16, 1974, and died less than one month later on March 10, 1974. In his will, he attempted to disinherit his daughter and any grandchildren on the basis that his daughter ignored him for thirty years except for one insulting telephone call. He devised his entire estate to the American Legion. His daughter petitioned the court to avoid the charitable devise based upon Section 731.19, Florida Statutes (predecessor to 732.803, Florida Statutes). The trial court had correctly set aside the charitable devise, and the First District Court of Appeals affirmed, stating:

We are bound by the plain language of Florida Statute 731.19 (now 732.803), as passed by the Florida Legislature. It might well be that the results of this case are completely opposite to the testator's intentions; however, we conclude that the lower court was correct in setting aside the subject will as mandated by Florida Statute 731.19. Affirmed. 411 So.2d at 811.

The test for standing is set forth specifically in Section 732.803, Florida Statutes. The Petitioner must be:

- (1) a lineal descendant or a spouse; or
- (2) a lineal descendant or a spouse who would receive any interest in the charitable devise, if avoided.

It cannot be denied that Respondent, LORRAINE E. ZRILLIC, is the natural daughter and lineal descendant of the deceased, LORRAINE E. ROMANS. As such, Respondent ZRILLIC, as a lineal descendant, would receive an interest in the failed charitable devise, if avoided. When the charitable devise is avoided, as it should have properly been in the trial court, the entire residuary clause fails, and the residual estate then descends pursuant to the laws of intestate succession:

> 732.101 Intestate Estate -(1) Any part of the estate of a decedent not effectively disposed of by will passes to the decedent's heirs as prescribed in the following sections of this Code.

> 732.103 Share of Other Heirs -The part of the intestate estate not passing to the surviving spouse under S. 732.102, or the entire intestate estate if there is no surviving spouse, descends as follows:

> (1) To the lineal descendants of the decedent. Section 732.101 and 732.103, Florida Statutes.

The Petitioners take the position that pursuant to Paragraph EIGHTH of the will, decedent ROMANS limits her

daughter's inheritance, and in fact, expresses an intention to so limit her daughter's inheritance, resulting in a form of disinheritance. Petitioners reduce the words expressed in Paragraph EIGHTH to the erroneous conclusion that such limitation effectively removes Respondent ZRILLIC, from the class of person, i.e., lineal descendants, entitled to bring a petition for an order avoiding a charitable devise.

The argument propounded by Petitioners must clearly fail. Petitioners did not argue in the trial court that Respondent ZRILLIC had no standing to bring a Petition *to* Determine Exempt Property on January 6, 1987, pursuant to Section 732.402, Florida Statutes. An order directing the personal representative to surrender furniture valued at \$1,700.00 and an automobile valued at \$12,500.00 to Respondent ZRILLIC as the decedent's surviving child was entered, without objection from Petitioners, by the trial court on February 12, 1987.

It would seem that after Respondent filed her Petition for Order Avoiding Charitable Devise, to revise the estate's perception of standing due to words of limitation set forth in decedent's will, is a classic disingenuous argument. Apparently, Petitioners thought it acceptable to part with only \$14,200.00 worth of goods to Respondent, but the residuary clause, of apparent greater value, is another matter. It should appear obvious that the arguments used to support Petitioner's refusal to acknowledge Respondent's clear standing to bring her Petition for ORder to Avoid Charitable Devise, are the exact same arguments which could have been raised in Respondent's Petition

to Determine Exempt Property, and were not.

Petitioners have clearly waived their argument on the issue of standing by failure to raise it prior to Respondent's attempt to avoid the charitable devise. If the trial court had found Respondent had no standing to avoid the charitable devise, the finding would have been grossly incongruous with the trial court's order on exempt property.

The Fifth District found no merit to the cross-appeal regarding Respondent's standing:

We find no merit to the cross appeal, which attacks the trial court's determination that appellant had standing to file the subject petition. Notwithstanding appellant's limited bequest under the will, she would be entitled to her intestate share upon the avoidance or absence of the residuary clause

to Paragraph EIGHTH. One could logically conclude that the decedent, LORRAINE E. ROMANS, preferred the SHRINERS HOSPITAL over her own daughter by providing a more bountiful gift to the SHRINERS HOSPITAL than to her own daughter. If, intent were relevant in exercising the options provided by Section 732.803, Florida Statutes, the Statute would never be used. By providing a gift to a lineal descendant or spouse, the decedent has stated what he or she clearly intends for the spouse or lineal descendant and thus decedent's intentions are clear; if the decedent fails to include a spouse or lineal descendant, the descendant has shown that he or she intended to disinherit said spouse or lineal descendant. Therefore, no one would ever have standing, pursuant to Section 732.803, if the Petitioners' view

were to prevail.

The conclusion to be drawn from the above logic is that in order to be effective at all, and of any use at all, Section 732.803 must be construed exactly as the trial court found, "the effect of Section 732.803, Florida Statutes, is to render intent irrelevant." (Pet. **App.** B).

It cannot be overlooked that one of the legislative purposes of Section 732.803, Florida Statutes is:

> to protect the widow and children from improvident gifts made to their neglect by the testator; the design of the statute being obviously to prevent testators who may be laboring under the apprehension of impending death from disposing of their estates to the exclusion of those who are, or should be, the natural objects of the testator's bounty. Taylor v. Payne, supra at 618.

Can there be any doubt that the decedent, LORRAINE E. ROMANS, was laboring under the apprehension of impending death when she prepared her will, attempting to improvidently dispose of her estate to the exclusion of her daughter and grandchildren? She died of breast cancer two months and two weeks after execution of her will. She had been suffering from breast cancer for three (3) years prior to death. Factually, Section 732.803 was instituted expressly for situations such as the case at bar.

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